STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction to hear this appeal because it is an appeal of a final order of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia that affected the possession of property and changed the status quo. D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(2)(C); *Jenkins v. Parker*, 428 A.2d 367, 369 (D.C. 1981). The Superior Court orally granted summary judgment on September 29, 2022, and entered a written order granting summary judgment on February 7, 2023. A Notice of Appeal was timely filed with this Court on March 9, 2023, within thirty days of entry of judgment. D.C. App. R. 4(a)(1).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

This is a "foreclosure rescue scam" case concerning whether Appellee Wilmington Savings Fund Society ("Wilmington") has a property interest in Appellant LoLillian Smith's family home. Wilmington asserts that it does based on a junior mortgage taken out on the property by two foreclosure rescue scam artists. Ms. Smith asserts that it does not because the fraudulent quitclaim deed purporting to grant the defrauders title was void, or alternatively because Wilmington's predecessor-in-interest was not a bona fide lender without notice of the fraud. The Superior Court granted summary judgment to Wilmington on only the issue of notice.

1

This appeal concerns the following issues:

a. Did the Superior Court err by failing to rule on Ms. Smith's argument that the quitclaim deed to her defrauders was void, when Wilmington would have no interest in Ms. Smith's home if the deed were void?

b. Alternatively, did the Superior Court err by summarily holding that the deed was not void?

2. *a.* Did the Superior Court err by failing to rule on Ms. Smith's argument that a lender's notice must be measured when its deed of trust is recorded, given it is undisputed that Wilmington's predecessor had actual notice of the fraud before recording its deed of trust?

b. Did the Superior Court err by ruling on summary judgment that Wilmington's predecessor-in-interest was not on "inquiry" notice of the fraud, when Wilmington would have no interest in the home if there was notice?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellee Nationstar's predecessor-in-interest, non-party Capital One, N.A., brought a judicial foreclosure action against Ms. Smith's home in 2017, after which Appellees Jefferson and Fryar—through their corporate entity, SJ&F Builders, LLC ("SJ&F")—defrauded Ms. Smith into conveying her home to them. Complaint for Judicial Foreclosure, Nov. 1, 2017; App. 111–15. The men then obtained a second mortgage on the property from Wilmington's predecessor-ininterest, non-party Visio Financial Services ("Visio"). App. 440. After discovering the fraud with the help of the D.C. Housing Authority ("DCHA"), Ms. Smith filed a third-party complaint against her defrauders in the foreclosure action and obtained a default judgment voiding the fraudulent conveyance. App. 120. Wilmington intervened and moved to reconsider the judgment so it could argue it was a bona fide purchaser. Motion to Reconsider, Aug. 10, 2020.

The Superior Court granted Wilmington's motion to reconsider and ordered discovery on whether Visio had obtained a valid property interest. App. 161. Wilmington moved for summary judgment after discovery closed, and the court entered summary judgment in Wilmington's favor, ruling that Visio had not been on notice of the fraud, making Visio (and, therefore, Wilmington) a bona fide lender. App. 512. Ms. Smith timely appealed on March 9, 2023, within thirty days after entry of written judgment. App. 515.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Ms. Smith Purchases her D.C. Home in 2001 to Raise her Children.

Appellant LoLillian Smith is a life-long D.C. resident who owns her home on Varney Street in Southeast D.C. App. 61. Ms. Smith purchased her home in 2001 and—like many of us—built her life in that home, raising her children there. *Id.* Also like many of us, Ms. Smith could not afford the full purchase price of her home in cash, so she took out a mortgage, which was eventually transferred to Nationstar. Complaint for Judicial Foreclosure ¶ 8, Nov. 1, 2017.

II. Ms. Smith's Long-Time, Trusted Friend Defrauds Her of Title through a Foreclosure Rescue Scam.

Ms. Smith is a single mother with a high school education, who has supported her family with a combination of part-time and self-employed work. She began experiencing financial difficulties in 2017. App. 429–30. After falling behind in her mortgage payments, Ms. Smith's lender filed a foreclosure complaint later that year. Complaint for Judicial Foreclosure, Nov. 1, 2017.

Ms. Smith shared the news about the foreclosure with her friend Gregory Jefferson, whom she had known and trusted for many years. App. 62. Ms. Smith knew him as a building contractor who worked on various properties, and the two were close friends with each other and each other's families. App. 62, 64.

Mr. Jefferson responded to the news by offering to help Ms. Smith solve her foreclosure crisis. App. 64. Drawing on his experience working on homes,

Mr. Jefferson told Ms. Smith that they could go into business together as an LLC in which they would both be members, and the LLC would take over ownership of Ms. Smith's home. App. 64–65. The LLC's income would pay the mortgage, and Ms. Smith could stay in her home with a new job and new financial security for her family. App. 64–66. When Ms. Smith asked why she needed to transfer her home to the LLC, Mr. Jefferson told her that was the way they "had to do it" for the LLC to pay her mortgage, utilities, and "everything pertaining to the house." App. 67.

To assure Ms. Smith that she would retain her home, Mr. Jefferson presented her with incorporation papers for "SJ&F Builders, LLC" ('S' for Smith, 'J' for Jefferson, and 'F' for the third member of the team, Fryar). At Ms. Smith's insistence, Mr. Jefferson also drafted an addendum to the proposed deed stating that the Varney Street house "will always belong to LoLillian Smith who is a [sic] active member of SJ&F Builders LLC, in which the Deed will reflect her ownership. All utilities will be paid for by SJ&F Builders and property taxes."¹ App. 65–66, 444. Thus believing that she was merely transferring the home to herself in a new corporate form where her long-time, trusted friend would support her, Ms. Smith signed a quitclaim deed to SJ&F Builders on February 12, 2018. App. 447. The handwritten deed showed consideration of \$0, reflecting

5

¹ Mr. Jefferson signed this addendum on Jan. 9, 2018. Ms. Smith also signed it. She did not sign a separate addendum dated Jan. 12, 2018. App. 444.

Ms. Smith's belief that she was not selling her home. App. 447.

Unfortunately, Mr. Jefferson had no intention of working with Ms. Smith or allowing her to retain ownership of her home. There was no job for Ms. Smith in the new LLC, and Mr. Jefferson became physically and verbally abusive with her. App. 72. The LLC did not pay Ms. Smith's utilities, and her water company shut her water off. App. 67–68. Ms. Smith was emotionally devastated by the betrayal and unable to maintain steady employment. App. 77–78.

Worst of all, despite Ms. Smith's demands and Mr. Jefferson's express representations, SJ&F was incorporated in North Carolina with no mention of Ms. Smith. App. 456–67. As the Superior Court found, this allowed Jefferson and Fryar to defraud Ms. Smith out of her home with Ms. Smith reasonably believing she retained ownership.

The fraud perpetrated on Ms. Smith was an example of a foreclosure rescue scam, which is often designed to strip the equity out of the victim's home.² This

² See generally Elizabeth Renuart & Steve Tripoli, Dreams Foreclosed: The Rampant Theft of Americans' Homes Through Equity-Stripping Foreclosure "Rescue" Scams, NATIONAL CONSUMER LAW CENTER (2005), available at https://filearchive.nclc.org/foreclosure_mortgage/scam/report-foreclosure-rescuescams-2005.pdf; see also Amanda Abrams, Foreclosure Crisis Spawns a Wave of Rescue Scams, WASHINGTON POST (Jan. 18, 2013), https://www.washingtonpost.com/realestate/foreclosure-crisis-spawns-a-wave-ofrescue-scams/2013/01/17/ec704c42-4a18-11e2-820e-17eefac2f939_story.html; Kevin Grasha, Man sentenced for nationwide foreclosure relief scam after trying to disqualify judge, CINCINNATI ENQUIRER (Oct. 5, 2023),

type of scheme has proliferated throughout the country over the last several years, including in D.C. Unlike here, the perpetrator of the scam is often someone previously unknown to the victim. *See Johnson v. Wheeler*, 492 F. Supp. 2d 492, 495 (D. Md. 2007) ("Typically, a homeowner facing foreclosure is identified by a rescuer through foreclosure notices published in the newspapers or at government offices."). These schemes can take various forms, but at its core the defrauder acquires a home in (or at risk of) foreclosure by promising to help the homeowner pay its debts. Often, the defrauder promises to transfer the home back to the homeowner, and in the meantime the homeowner becomes a rent-paying tenant in their home. *Id.* at 495–96. Several states have passed laws prohibiting such schemes,³ and many government entities and even some businesses have published materials explaining the signs of a possible foreclosure rescue scam.⁴

⁴ E.g., Rocket Mortage, Common Mortgage Scams In 2023 And How To Avoid Them, <u>https://www.rocketmortgage.com/learn/mortgage-scams</u>; Experian, Beware of Foreclosure Rescue Scams, <u>https://www.experian.com/blogs/ask-</u> <u>experian/beware-of-foreclosure-rescue-scams</u>; D.C. Department of Insurance, Securities, and Banking, Protect Yourself from Mortgage and Foreclosure Rescue Scams (July 7, 2015), available at

https://www.cincinnati.com/story/news/crime/2023/10/05/lorin-buckner-sentenced-for-nationwide-foreclosure-relief-scam/71074811007.

³ E.g., D.C. Code § 42-2432(a) ("It shall be unlawful, for compensation or gain ... to engage in ... a foreclosure rescue transaction"); see generally John C. Murray, Court Decisions and State Statutes Send Warning to "Foreclosure Consultants", 43 REAL PROP. TR. & EST. L.J. 571 (2008) (compiling laws in eighteen states).

III. Visio Issues Ms. Smith's Defrauders a Second Mortgage Despite Multiple Red Flags.

In April 2018, only two months after fraudulently acquiring Ms. Smith's home for free, the defrauders used it as collateral to apply for an adjustable-rate mortgage refinance loan in SJ&F's name from Visio Financial Services, Inc. ("Visio").⁵ App. 431.⁶ Several red flags arose over the ensuing eight months as Visio and its settlement agent, ServiceLink, LLC ("ServiceLink"), worked to close the loan and then record Visio's deed of trust. Visio generally failed to take even modest steps to probe any of these issues.

A. Visio Evaluates the Loan Over Six Months as Numerous Red Flags Emerge

Visio knew from the quitclaim deed⁷ that the defrauders paid nothing for

Ms. Smith's home, and that they were seeking more than \$100,000 in cash

proceeds from the loan. App. 224. This was a cash-out refinance, where the loan

https://disb.dc.gov/sites/default/files/dc/sites/disb/page_content/attachments/Protec t%20Yourself%20from%20Mortgage%20and%20Foreclosure%20Rescue%20Sca ms%207-7-15.pdf.

⁵ Whereas the trial court papers generally use "Intervenor" to refer either to Visio or Wilmington, this brief identifies Visio and Wilmington by name.

⁶ Visio's Loan File contains emails and notes written by various Visio or ServiceLink employees. Visio staff include Hannah Glenn, Nicholas Sevier, and Cody Smart, while ServiceLink staff include Michele Bilby, Ginger Metzel, Tonia Dupain, Dawn Currin, and Daniel Greggs.

⁷ Nothing in the record suggests that the defrauders provided Visio or ServiceLink with the handwritten addendum signed by both Ms. Smith and Mr. Jefferson stating that her home "will always belong" to Ms. Smith. App. 444.

exceeds prior mortgages and the excess amount takes the form of cash proceeds to the borrower.⁸ These cash proceeds generally reflect the equity in a home, so Visio knew the equity in Ms. Smith's house must have exceeded \$100,000.⁹ Also, Visio knew the quitclaim deed was handwritten, and Visio noted the deed erroneously left the "LLC" out of SJ&F's name. App. 432.

In addition, Visio obtained SJ&F's operating agreement and articles of organization showing that SJ&F was formed in December 2017, only about two months before SJ&F obtained Ms. Smith's home for free. App. 324 & 327.

ServiceLink advised Visio it needed SJ&F's "owner's title policy," given the "multiple prior owner liens and mortgages on title." App. 432. Indeed, Visio required borrowers to have such policies. App. 462. But a Visio employee wrote that Jefferson and Fryar had "no idea what I am asking for when I ask for an

⁸ Cash-out refinance loans generally have a higher risk of default than other types of refinance loans. Federal Housing Finance Agency, Office of Inspector General, *Recent Trends in Enterprise – Cash-out Refinances*, at 5 (September 27, 2021), *available at* https://www.fhfaoig.gov/sites/default/files/WPR-2021-008.pdf.

⁹ See JPMorgan Chase & Co., *Tapping Home Equity*, at 10 (2020), *available at* https://www.jpmorganchase.com/content/dam/jpmc/jpmorgan-chase-and-co/institute/pdf/Institute-Home-Equity-Report_ADA.pdf; Jonathan Russell, Mortgage Professional America, *Cash out refinance: Definition and how it works* (Jan. 4, 2023), https://www.mpamag.com/us/mortgage-industry/guides/cash-out-refinance-definition-and-how-it-works/431813 ("cash-out refinance allows you to convert home equity into money; the amount is based on the equity you have built up in your property"); Hannah Lapin, Visio Lending, *Grow Your Rental Portfolio with a Cash-Out Refinance* (Mar. 17, 2022, 2:24 PM), https://www.visiolending.com/blog/guide-to-cash-out-refinancing.

[owner's title policy] and still haven't gotten a straight answer about whether or not they have one!" App. 321. Visio then learned that the men did not conduct their purchase using a title company. Instead, they prepared their own deed and did not obtain an owner's title policy. *Id.* This also meant that SJ&F assumed the liens on Ms. Smith's home. App. 287. Despite Visio's requirement that borrowers provide an owner's title policy, Visio moved ahead with processing the loan.

Visio "only finance[s] rent ready property." App. 463. Accordingly, SJ&F presented Visio with a lease to the property that stated a rent of \$2,100 and a tenant named Moses Pernell. App. 494. But the record does not otherwise reflect that such a person lived in Ms. Smith's home or whether this person even existed. To the contrary, Ms. Smith has continuously lived in her home since purchasing it in 2021, and Visio knew that fact because it conducted or ordered an appraisal.¹⁰ *Id.* However, nothing in the record suggests Visio ever looked into this glaring discrepancy between the named tenant, Moses Pernell, and the person actually living in the home, Ms. Smith.

B. Visio Struggles to Obtain Payoff Statements

Visio sought payoff statements from the existing lienholders who consistently said they had not been notified of any transfer of Ms. Smith's home.

¹⁰ Wilmington has not disputed this fact, nor has it disputed that Ms. Smith has lived in her home continuously since she bought it in 2001. App. 3.

For example, due to this lack of notification, the D.C. Water and Sewer Authority initially "rejected the payoff for Lillian's [sic] borrower's authorization." App. 311. When Visio asked ServiceLink why processing SJ&F's loan was "taking so long," App. 299, ServiceLink explained it "had to obtain judgment payoffs for a prior owner which took longer than anticipated as the creditors were not even aware the property was sold." App. 298–99. After facing delays, in early July, Visio's Operations Manager communicated to ServiceLink that this loan "needs to be made top priority." App. 298.

After seeking a payoff statement from the DCHA, ServiceLink noted that DCHA was "holding up the payoff because they don't understand how this property was sold to [the defrauders] and [DCHA] not be notified of the situation." App. 295. Still, ServiceLink asked DCHA to "place an urgent rush on this updated payoff." App. 294. After DCHA said it needed a "final settlement statement" executed by Ms. Smith and SJ&F, App. 293, ServiceLink reached out to SJ&F's attorney, Michael Gross. Mr. Gross explained to ServiceLink that he did not have any signed documents because he did not handle the purchase. App. 292. ServiceLink then learned from Mr. Jefferson that Mr. Gross "only completed a title search on the property but nothing more." *Id.* Mr. Gross also told ServiceLink: "The parties made their own arrangements outside this office and I do not know what they did." App. 291. ServiceLink noted, "DC Housing is stating that they feel this is a way to abuse way to pay these liens [sic]." App. 287.

DCHA alerted Ms. Smith in early August that Jefferson and Fryar might be trying to scam her, and they recommended she hire an attorney. App. 431. Ms. Smith then approached Legal Aid, who connected her with pro bono trial counsel. App. 497.

After further delays in obtaining updated payoffs, in early August, Visio's Operations Manager communicated to his own staff and ServiceLink: "I cannot stress enough how important it is what we wrap this up quickly. At this point, [ServiceLink] has not provided stellar service and I expect to see an improvement soon." App. 282. Later, in early September, Visio communicated to ServiceLink that Visio's executives were "a little concerned because of the amount of liens and what not." App. 262.

When ServiceLink asked Rushmore's counsel for an updated payoff statement in early August, Rushmore's counsel responded by asking: "Do you have an authorization from Ms. LoLillian Smith? Ms. Smith is the borrower of the loan in question." App. 287. Nothing in the record suggests that either Visio or ServiceLink made any attempts to obtain Ms. Smith's authorization—or directly communicate with her at all—in the period before the loan closing and disbursement of funds.

Instead, ServiceLink asked Jefferson and Fryar if they "have contact with

[Ms. Smith] or if we can watch the mail at the property of 1104 Varney Street" i.e., ServiceLink wanted to monitor Ms. Smith's mail. App. 276. In mid-August, ServiceLink reported to Visio that Mr. Jefferson "has been in contact with Ms[.] Smith this entire week trying to get the payoff from Rushmore but they will only mail this document to Ms. Smith." App. 273.

C. Visio Closes the Loan and Learns of Ms. Smith's Fraud Claim Before Recording a Deed of Trust.

After months of difficulties and delays, the loan closing finally took place on Oct. 8, 2018, and the loan funds were disbursed two days later. On Oct. 8, SJ&F and Visio executed Visio's deed of trust granting Visio a security interest in Ms. Smith's home. Also at closing, SJ&F executed a corrected quitclaim deed, in which "SJ & F Builders" granted Ms. Smith's home to "SJ&F Builders LLC" for zero consideration. Ms. Smith's signature is not on this corrected deed; only Jefferson and Fryar's signatures appear on it. App. 451. In addition, it was not until Nov. 2, 2018 that Mr. Fryar signed the second-to-last page of the deed of trust—a "Security Affidavit – Class 1." Smith's expert report states that this security affidavit was a "part of the deed of trust without which the deed of trust was not properly recordable," which Wilmington never explicitly disputed. App. 199.

More than two months after disbursement of the loan funds, Visio's deed of trust was recorded on Dec. 13, 2018, along with the corrected quitclaim deed

identifying the grantee as "SJ&F Builders LLC." App. 216, 440 & 442.

In terms of the foreclosure action in Superior Court, as early as June 4, the loan file shows that Visio was aware of a "pending court action" involving Ms. Smith's home. App. 315. And the trial docket reflects that on Aug. 24, 2018, an attorney appeared on Ms. Smith's behalf at a status hearing that day. The docket notes for the hearing say this attorney "indicate[d] that this matter involves a foreclosure rescue scam." App. 557.

On Oct. 17, 2018, Visio learned that Rushmore's counsel told ServiceLink that Ms. Smith "has filed a lawsuit against Mr. Fryar stating the purchase was a fraudulent transfer and she was duped (rescue scam)." App. 251. On the same day, ServiceLink communicated this news internally through an email with the subject line, "URGENT – DO NOT ISSUE POLICY [REDACTED] FRYAR – LOAN #[REDACTED]." *Id.* This email body stated: "Please hold off on issuing this [title insurance] policy due to the pending litigation." *Id.*

On Oct. 23, 2018, a ServiceLink employee wrote to her colleagues and Visio staff: "Please work to get a borrower's authorization from Ms. Smith so we can speak with Rushmore on this issue. Going forward all payoffs must be updated before we close on any loans and must be within 2 weeks of the closing so these issues do not arise again." App. 246. Visio's Operations Manager added: "ServiceLink – we're having trouble verifying what is correct in all this. Let's just push to obtain an auth[orization] from Ms. Smith so we can make sure the Rushmore payoff satisfies their mortgage. We're in a bit of a he-said, she-said situation here, let's get the facts." App. 245.

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