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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Superior Court of the District of Columbia (the Trial Court") correctly held that Intervenor was entitled to summary judgment in this case because: (1) the February 12, 2018 Quitclaim Deed from Smith to SJ&F ("Quitclaim Deed") was neither a forgery nor was it obtained via "fraud in the factum" and was therefore at most merely voidable and not void *ab initio*; and (2) Intervenor was a *bona fide* purchaser for value without notice because Intervenor obtained a valid security interest in the Property for value and had no notice of the alleged fraud on Smith at the time of the issuance of its October 8, 2018 deed of trust (Intervenor's DOT) and

mortgage loan on the Property and before the proceeds of its loan were wired to Smith's lien creditors and SJ&F on October 10, 2018.

Smith, in her Opposition to Intervenor's Motion to Reconsider and Motion to Dismiss, conceded that Intervenor had no notice of the alleged fraud prior to the execution of Intervenor's DOT by SJ&F stating that:

Intervenor's own contemporaneous notes and emails related to Third-Party Defendant's loan, ostensibly produced in support of its motion for summary judgment, demonstrate that it knew of Ms. Smith's allegations as early as October 17, 2018 – just days **after** issuing the loan. (emphasis added).

#### App. at 363

Likewise, the Transcript of the February 27, 2020 Ex Parte Proof hearing clearly demonstrate that Smith understood that her admitted execution of the Quitclaim Deed would transfer the property to SJ&F. App. at 34, 68:15-25, and 72:8-9. This demonstrates that Intervenor was entitled to a summary judgment dismissing Smith's claim to quiet title and for a judgment voiding the Quitclaim Deed.

Smith asserts two arguments in support of her claims that the Quitclaim Deed is void *ab initio* and Intervenor is not a *bona fide* purchaser which took its security interest in the Property free of Smith's latent interest: (1) the Quitclaim Deed was "obtained via fraud in the factum" even though it was not a forgery and Smith understood its contents and effect; and (2) that Intervenor is not a *bona fide* purchaser

because Intervenor was on inquiry notice of the alleged foreclosure rescue scam after the closing of Intervenor's DOT and loan and disbursement of its loan proceeds. In her Brief of Appellant, Smith misconstrues the concept of fraud in the factum, which is clearly not applicable because Smith knew she was signing a deed of her property to SJ&F. Smith also fails to point to any evidence that shows Intervenor had inquiry notice of the alleged fraud <u>prior</u> to the closing of Intervenor's DOT, and before the proceeds of the loan were disbursed to SJ&F and, likewise, fails to counter Intervenor's proof that it is a *bona fide* purchaser. Discovery was closed when Intervenor's Post Discovery Closed Motion for Summary Judgment was filed, and there was still no evidence before the Trial Court that Intervenor was on notice of Smith's claim until after its loan proceeds were disbursed. As a result, Intervenor's Motion for Summary Judgment was properly granted.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews summary judgment rulings de novo, "conducting an independent review of the record in considering whether the motion was properly granted." <u>District Of Columbia v. Design Ctr. Owner D.C. LLC</u>, 286 A.3d 1010 (D.C. 2022). In so reviewing, this Court applies the same standard as the Superior Court and affirms the grant of summary judgment if, accepting the allegations of the complaint as true, and construing all of the facts and inferences in favor of the nonmoving party, the record shows that there is no genuine issue of material fact,

and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. <u>Urban Masonry Corp. v.</u> <u>N&N Contractors</u>, 676 A.2d 26, 30 (D.C. 1996).

In cases involving the application of Sup. Ct. R. 56, when there is no genuine dispute as to the facts which are relevant and material to the controversy at hand, the Court may apply the appropriate law and make a dispositive ruling. Osbourne v. Capital City Mortgage Corp., 667 A.2d 1321 (D.C. 1995); Soyan v. Riggs Nat'l Bank, 544 A.2d 267 (D.C. 1988). Rule 56(a) provides that "[a] party seeking to recover upon a claim . . . may . . . move with or without supporting affidavits for a summary judgment in the party's favor upon all or any part thereof." Super. Ct. R. Civ. P. 56(a).

Once a party moving for summary judgment meets the initial burden of demonstrating the lack of a dispute as to any material fact, the burden of defeating the motion shifts to the nonmoving party to demonstrate the existence of a genuine dispute of fact. Landow v. Georgetown-Inland Corp., 454 A.2d 310 (D.C. 1982); Ferguson v. District of Columbia, 629 A.2d 15 (D.C. 1993). To meet this burden, the factual dispute must be identified with specificity and general conclusory allegations are not sufficient to defeat the motion. Musa v. Continental Insurance Co., 644 A.2d 999 (D.C. 1993); Spellman v. American Security Bank, 504 A.2d 1119 (D.C. 1986). Moreover, the party resisting the motion for summary judgment must identify more than a scintilla of evidence to establish a dispute of fact. Brown

v. Consolidated Rail Corp., 717 A.2d 309 (D.C. 1998). The mere metaphysical possibility that a dispute of fact may materialize is also insufficient to defeat the motion. Bolle v. Hume, 619 A.2d 1192 (D.C. 1993), citing Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 447 U.S. 242, 106 S. Ct. 2505 (1986).

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. There Is No Forgery or Fraud in the Factum with Regard to the

#### **Quitclaim Deed**

A. No evidence was produced in discovery after the motion to reconsider was granted which indicated that the Quitclaim deed was procured via Fraud in the Factum.

Smith assigns error to the Trial Court's statement in its September 29, 2022 oral ruling granting Intervenor's Post Discovery Closed Motion for Summary Judgment that it had already ruled that the Quitclaim Deed was not void but was merely voidable. App. 468. Smith bases this argument on the dicta in the Trial Court's statement in its February 22, 2021 oral ruling granting Intervenor's Motion to Reconsider the June 15, 2020 Order declaring the Quitclaim Deed to be void *ab initio* that it was allowing the parties to conduct discovery on whether the Quitclaim Deed was procured by fraud in the factum. App. 172. However, Smith's argument regarding discovery on the fraud in the factum issue ignores the fact that that discovery resulted in no evidence that the Quitclaim Deed was the result of fraud in

the factum that was not already before the Trial Court at the hearing on the Motion to Reconsider February 22, 2021. App. 364. In addition, because Smith neither discovered nor produced any evidence that Smith was not financially literate in opposition to Intervenor's Post Discovery Closed Motion for Summary Judgment, it is submitted that the Trial Court correctly ruled that the Quitclaim Deed was not the result of fraud in the factum.

#### B. The Quitclaim Deed was not void ab initio: Chen v. Bell-Smith

In her Opposition to Intervenor's Motion for Summary Judgment, Smith relied on Chen v. Bell-Smith, 768 F. Supp.2d 121, 135 (D.D.C 2011) for the definition of fraud in the factum which is defined as "the sort of fraud that procures a party's signature to an instrument without knowledge of its true contents." Opposition at p. 6. However, the holding in Chen does not help Smith because the court ultimately held that fraud in the factum was not applicable to the matter at hand, and, instead found that "successful invocations of the fraud in the factum defense are rare, and 'only in the most extreme situations have courts of any jurisdiction found a fraud in the factum defense to be viable." Chen, supra, 768 F. Supp.2d at 135. And the Chen court determined that fraud in the factum was not applicable in that case as well. *Id.* at 138. A careful analysis of Chen demonstrates exactly what fraud in the factum is, and why it is not applicable in the matter at hand either.

The Chen court noted that forged deeds are void ab initio, but that the plaintiffs in that case had conceded that their signatures were not void. *Id.* at 135. A non-forged deed may still be considered void ab initio if it was obtained via "fraud in the factum," which is defined as "the sort of fraud that procures a party's signature to an instrument without knowledge of its true nature or contents." Id. Further explained, fraud in the factum arises "from the want of identity or disparity between the instrument executed and the one intended to be executed." Id. (citations omitted). After reviewing several cases of fraud in the factum involving extreme factors of age, intelligence, literacy, education, and ability to understand English, the Court ultimately found that fraud in the factum was not applicable to the Chen plaintiffs due to their background and the fact that they did not read the deed they signed but relied on the representations of defendants at to the deed's contents. *Id.* at 135-136. The Chen court held:

At most, then, plaintiffs have stated a claim of fraud in the inducement, which would only render the deed of sale voidable, not void. Because a voidable deed "is unassailable in the hands of a *bona fide* purchaser" [citations omitted], the question becomes whether HSBC was a *bona fide* purchaser, who "acquired an interest in a property for a valuable consideration and without notice of any outstanding claims which are held against the property by third parties."

#### *Id.* at 136.

Similarly, during the February 27, 2020 Ex Parte Proof hearing, Smith admitted that she signed the Quitclaim Deed, and that she was able to read,

understand and was aware that it transferred the property from her to SJ&F. App. 68:14-69:25. The entire Transcript of the February 27, 2020 Ex Parte Proof hearing, beyond the carefully selected portions attached to Smith's Opposition to Intervenor's Motion for Summary Judgement, makes it clear that, like in Chen, Smith at most has stated a claim for fraud in the inducement, which would only render the Quitclaim Deed voidable, and not void *ab initio*, and that if Intervenor is a *bona fide* purchaser, then its interest in the Property is valid and unassailable. Therefore, since Intervenor has demonstrated it is a *bona fide* purchaser, the Trial Court did not err in granting Intervenor's Motion for Summary Judgment.

# C. <u>EMC Mortg. Corp. v. Patton and Scotch Bonnett Realty Corp. v. Matthews</u>

In addition to <u>Chen</u>, there are other cases where a lender got caught up in an mortgage foreclosure fraud rescue scam, where the alleged borrower (in this case SJ&F) is claimed to have received title fraudulently, subsequently obtained a mortgage with a lender (in this case Intervenor), then received substantial cash proceeds of the mortgage (in this case, more than \$86,000.00), and caused lienholders on the Property to receive payoffs from the lender (in this case \$15,166.00) to release those liens.

EMC Mortg. Corp. v. Patton, 64 A.3d 182 (D.C. 2012) provides guidance in this matter. As discussed in EMC, the trial court in that case initially granted relief in favor of the plaintiffs and voided *ab initio* EMC's mortgage loan and deed of trust

on the property, after plaintiffs alleged that defendant Jenkins and her company fraudulently convinced them to convey the property to the company, that would then obtain a \$700.000.00 mortgage on the property and use the proceeds to extinguish plaintiffs' debts, and then sell the property back to plaintiffs in one-year. EMC, supra at 183-184. After reversal and remand by the Court of Appeals, the D.C. Superior Court granted the lender's motion to dismiss the amended complaint (on the causes of action against the lender) and denied the borrower's motion for leave to file a second amended complaint (modifying the causes of action against the lender). See, Patton, et al. v. Jenkins, et al., 2010 CA 002244 R(RP) (See, App. 217 at ¶54.)

Furthermore, the highest court of the State of Maryland<sup>1</sup>, has held that a deed, such as the one in this case, that is <u>not</u> alleged to be a forged document and is <u>not</u> alleged to have been signed with a forged signature, is, therefore, <u>not</u> void *ab initio*.

See Scotch Bonnett Realty Corp. v. Matthews, 417 Md. 570, 11 A.3d 801 (2011).

The <u>Scotch Bonnett</u> court held that "A property owner's title should not be at risk that a grantor in the chain of title decides that the act of granting has been induced by a written misrepresentation, even if the misrepresentation includes a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>See, Seidenberg v. Seidenberg</u>,126 F. Supp. 19 (D.D.C. 1954) ("It must be borne in mind that the decisions of Maryland courts on questions of common law and equity jurisprudence, necessarily carry great weight in this jurisdiction, because the District of Columbia derives its common law and equity through Maryland").

forged signature." <u>Id</u>. Hence, if the signature on a conveyance of real property is a forgery or is executed under the authority of a fraudulent power-of-attorney, then the conveyance is void *ab initio*, but if the signature on a conveyance of real property is obtained through fraudulent inducement, then the conveyance is voidable, but <u>not</u> to a *bona fide* purchaser.

The applicability of Scotch Bonnett to the facts of the instant case make it clear that the conveyance of the Property from Smith to SJ&F is at most voidable, not void *ab initio*, and the Intervenor's DOT is not voidable at all if Intervenor is a BPF. Like Maryland, the District of Columbia draws a distinction between the effect of a forged deed (void *ab initio*) and a deed obtained by false pretenses (not voidable as to a *bona fide* purchaser). Compare M.M. & G., Inc. v. Jackson, 612 A.2d 186 (D.C. App. 1992) (forged deed could not validly transfer property and that even a *bona fide* purchaser takes nothing from its conveyance) and Chen v. Bell-Smith, 768 F.Supp.2d 121, 134 (D.D.C. 2011) (applying D.C. law) (*bona fide* purchaser is protected from outstanding interests in property of which it had no notice, and hence may obtain valid interest in real property from someone who obtained that property by fraud).

As was the case in <u>Scotch Bonnett</u>, there is no contention that Smith's signature on the deed to SJ&F, nor SJ&F's signature on Intervenor's loan documents or the Intervenor's DOT was forged, but only allegations that the Third Party

Defendants Fryar and Jefferson fraudulently induced Smith to convey the Property to SJ&F; and this is analogous to the forged articles of amendment in Scotch Bonnett, Smith concedes in the Third Party Complaint that the fraud was allegedly in Frye and Jefferson's "signing alternative SJ&F, LLC incorporation papers that only listed Jefferson and Fryer as members," and not in the executing of Intervenor's loan and Intervenor's DOT. See, Third Party Complaint at ¶25-27. Moreover, the Third-Party Complaint concedes that Smith freely executed her signature on the February 12, 2018 quitclaim deed conveying the property to SJ&F, and that this quitclaim deed was properly recorded the same day. See, Third Party Complaint at ¶35-36. Hence, the Intervenor's mortgage loan and the Intervenor's DOT (as well as the February 12, 2018 conveyance from Smith to SJ&F) is not void ab initio but is merely voidable if Smith can show that Intervenor is not a bona fide purchaser.

# D. Archie v. U.S. Bank, N.A. is inapplicable to this case because Smith introduced no evidence tending to show that she lacked understanding of financial matters

In her Brief of Appellant, Smith attempts to distinguish this case from the cases Intervenor relies on and claims that Archie v. U.S. Bank, N.A., 255 A.3d 1005 (D.C. 2021) compels the conclusion that the Quitclaim Deed in this case was procured by fraud in the factum. In Archie, this Court reversed the trial court's decision to grant summary judgment to the lender in that case based on evidence that the person in Smith's position in that case (Ms. Archie) "was not a "literate and

reasonably intelligent person" when it came to real estate financing documents," holding that "Ms. Archie's testimony that she "lacked understanding in financial matters" created a triable issue as to whether she was defrauded about the content and significance of the loan documents she signed. 255 A.3d at 1017-18. In in her brief of Appellant, Smith claims without evidence that while she is literate, she is not financially literate when it comes to real estate transactions, and that she suffers from mental illness that affects her mood and perception. Smith's Brief at 34. A review of both Intervenor's and Smith's Statements of Undisputed Facts which were before the Trial Court when it granted Intervenor's Motion for Summary Judgment in this case shows that, unlike <u>Archie</u>, there was no evidence of whether Smith was financially literate or not before the Trial Court when it ruled that the Quitclaim Deed was not procured by fraud in the factum.

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